FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/19/2023 3:01 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/20/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURTNO. 102493-2 NO. 56467-0-11

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ALEX LOPEZ LEON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Susan Adams, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petiti oner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Ave., Ste. 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The prosecution introduced extensive testimony about Mexican drug cartels, drug trafficking across the United-States Mexico border, and the problem of "Mexican drugs" arriving in the jurors' own community. The court of appeals recognized this testimony "referenced race and ethnicity," "cannot be characterized as minimal," and some of it "might be viewed as stereotyping." Opinion, 32-33. The court nevertheless condoned it, even though there was no evidence Alex and his codefendant, Javier Valenzuela Felix, were selling narcotics trafficked from Mexico—aside from their ethnicity—and there was no evidence

the two alleged murders were cartel-related—aside from Alex googling the Sinaloa Cartel and being asked by detectives to speculate whether Javier belonged to the cartel.

- 1. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) to determine whether this testimony constituted an apparent appeal to jurors' ethnic biases, where the testimony was speculative and had minimal relevance at best?
- 2. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) to determine whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to move to exclude or object to the cartel evidence under ER 404(b)?
- 3. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3), where the prosecution argued facts not in evidence in rebuttal and defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the same?
- 4. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3), where there is insufficient evidence to sustain Alex's convictions?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Alex Lopez Leon was born in California and is a United States citizen, though the jury never learned this. CP 167; U.S.

Const. amend. XIV. Alex is also Latino and spent most of his childhood in Mexico. CP 167. Spanish was his first language, and he speaks English with an accent. Ex. 21, at 69; Ex. 22.

1. Alex meets the killer, Javier, just hours before Javier murders Adrian and Wilberth.

In May of 2018, Alex was 21 years old. CP 662. He had lived at an apartment complex in Tacoma for a couple months. 8/9 RP 986. Alex was close friends with 16-year-old Johann Valencia Cuevas, who lived next door with his mother. 8/9 RP 980-86; Ex. 21, at 3. Johann's older brother, Adrian, also lived in the apartment complex with his girlfriend and sister. 8/9 RP 983-84. Adrian was friends with Wilberth Lopez Alcala, who likewise lived in the complex. 8/9 RP 1065-69. By all accounts, Wilberth was the only one among the group who knew Javier, who also apparently lived at the apartment complex. 8/9 RP 999-1000, 1036, 1073; Ex. 21, at 16.

May 13, 2018 was Mother's Day. That evening, Alex wanted Johann and Adrian to party with him at the apartment

complex. Ex. 21, at 32, 35. Alex texted Johann around 10:30 p.m., "Where u at," following up, "Let's kik it." Ex. 242, at 2. Johann responded that he would not be long. Ex. 242, at 2. At 11:19 p.m., Alex texted again, asking, "Where is your homeboy that lives at your sis?" 8/5 RP 869-70. Johann responded a minute later, "That's my brother and he's right here." 8/5 RP 870. At 12:29 a.m., Alex texted Johann again, "I'm waiting dog," and then, "At the stairs." 8/5 RP 871-72.

Johann, Adrian, and Wilberth joined Alex in the parking lot. Ex. 21, at 35; 8/9 RP 1029-30. At some point, Javier joined them, but Alex could not remember who invited him. Ex. 21, at 35-36. This was the first time Alex had ever met Javier. Ex. 21, at 16, 35. Javier had cocaine with him, which the group used. Ex. 21, at 40. Alex entered Javier's contact information into his phone around 1:00 a.m. 8/5 RP 939. Police never found any communication or association between Alex and Javier before 1:00 a.m. on May 14. 8/4 RP 775-76; 8/5 RP 940-46.

Johann went to bed around 1:40 a.m. 8/9 RP 990. Javier had a gun, so the remaining four drove around the corner from the apartments to shoot the gun out the car window. Ex. 21, at 20-22, 37-38. Alex admitted they were drunk and "[b]ein' stupid," but the plan was come back afterwards. Ex. 21, at 22, 29. Wilberth drove, with Adrian in the front passenger seat, Javier in the driver side back seat (left rear), and Alex in the passenger side back seat (right rear). 9/7 (a.m.) RP 16. Wanting to brag about it later to his friends, Alex recorded a video at 3:56 a.m. of Javier firing the gun 12 times into the air from the car. 8/5 RP 896-97, 905-06; Ex. 21, at 22.

2. Javier kills Adrian and then Wilberth. Alex stays quiet in the back seat, terrified he will be next.

At 4:21 a.m., Alex started another video, though only sounds were recorded. 8/5 RP 898-99. Alex explained he had a feeling something bad was about to happen. Ex. 21, at 77-78. Alex held his phone against his leg so that Javier could not see him recording. Ex. 21, at 78. Nine seconds into the video, there

is a single gunshot. 8/5 RP 904. When Alex played the video for police later, he explained Javier shot and killed Adrian. Ex. 21, at 24.

Javier commanded Wilberth to drive somewhere to dispose of Adrian's body, pointing the gun at both Wilberth and Alex. Ex. 21, at 24-26. Alex was terrified that Javier would shoot him or Wilberth next. Ex. 21, at 24. Alex figured, "I'm done." Ex. 21, at 46. Wilberth pulled onto a quiet street in University Place around 4:38 a.m. 8/30 RP 1330. As Wilberth put the car in reverse, Javier fired the gun again without warning, shooting and killing Wilberth. 9/7 RP 1715; Ex. 21, at 73.

Javier ordered Alex to get in the driver's seat. Ex. 21, at 26. Stunned, Alex told Javier they had to go, explaining later, "I just don't know what to do, I just fuckin' run, you know. I just go." Ex. 21, at 26. Alex had no idea why Javier did not kill him, too. Ex. 21, at 48.

Residential security cameras captured Javier and then
Alex climbing out of the rear driver's side window and leaving

the scene. 8/4 RP 728-32. Alex can be seen bending his elbow once outside the vehicle. Ex. 14A (3:37); 8/4 RP 732. There was speculation that Alex may have tucked a gun into his waistband, but no gun is visible on the video. 9/7 RP 1689-92. Pierce Transit video captured the two boarding a bus together at 7:32 a.m. and exiting about 35 minutes later. 8/30 RP 1311.

Adrian and Wilberth were found deceased within a couple hours. 8/2 RP 480-87. Ten spent 9mm cartridge casings were found where Javier had been sitting. 8/10 RP 1174; 9/7 RP 1695-96. One other 9mm casing was found behind Adrian's left shoulder. 8/10 RP 1167. Wilberth had an entrance wound on the right side of his head, slightly behind his ear, and an exit wound above his left eye. 8/3 RP 599-600. No bullet was recovered. 9/7 (a.m.) RP 17. Adrian had an entrance wound on the left side of the back of his head, but no exit wound. 8/3 RP 631-32. A damaged bullet was recovered from Adrian. 8/3 RP 632. Both

¹ The prosecution's firearm examiner concluded it was possible a different gun fired the bullet recovered from Adrian, because it

gunshot wounds were consistent with the driver's side backseat passenger—where Javier was sitting—pulling the trigger. 8/3 RP 650, 655.

3. Alex remains in contact with Javier after the killings in an attempt to appease Javier. Javier admits to being the shooter.

Alex did not immediately go to the police because he knew they would not believe him that he did not participate in the murders. Ex. 21, at 27. Alex was also afraid to come forward because he had an outstanding warrant for a federal probation violation. Ex. 21, at 26-27. Trying to avoid Javier, Alex left his apartment to stay with a friend in Spanaway. 9/1 RP 1473.

But Alex also wanted to pacify Javier and keep tabs on him. 9/1 RP 1474-75. On May 15, Alex texted Javier for the first time, "Hey." 8/30 RP 1374. Three days later, on May 18,

was more consistent with a .380 caliber bullet than a 9mm bullet. 8/10 RP 1189, 1280. A defense firearm expert disagreed, believing the bullet recovered from Adrian was likely a 9mm bullet based on several factors including its length and weight, and consistent with the 9mm shell casings found in the vehicle. 9/2 RP 1600-01.

Javier responded, "Everything okay with you." 8/30 RP 1374. Subsequent text messages between the two indicate Javier was sourcing drugs for Alex to sell. 8/30 RP 1376-85.

Almost exclusively, Alex initiated their conversations and frequently texted Javier multiple times before receiving any response. 8/30 RP 1385-88. Alex relayed to Javier that he had not seen anything on the news identifying who was responsible for the murders. 8/30 RP 1378. At one point, Alex told Javier, "As for me like the prisoner says, I don't look, I don't feel, and I don't listen. I just want to make money if possible." 8/30 RP 1390. Javier responded, "It wasn't the best way to have met, but maybe that's how it had to be." 8/30 RP 1390.

Alex was arrested on June 4 in Spanaway. 8/4 RP 700. Javier was arrested on June 21 in Marysville. 8/4 RP 715; 9/7 (a.m.) RP 19-20. Cell phone pings for the two men never placed them in the same location after the murders. 8/4 RP 721.

Alex agreed to a video-recorded interview with the police.

8/4 RP 754-55. A consensual search of Alex's phone revealed

he searched the internet for "Pierce County anonymous tips" on May 15 and "submit a tip" again on May 20. 8/5 RP 884-85, 955. On May 16, he made multiple searches like, "What to do if you witness a murder and are forced to stay quiet?"; and "What happens if you witness a murder as a threatened witness?" 8/5 RP 954-55.

Both Alex and Javier were charged with two counts of first degree premeditated murder. CP 9-10. Javier pleaded guilty to two counts of second degree murder while armed with a firearm. CP 540. In his plea statement, Javier admitted he shot both Adrian and Wilberth with intent to cause their deaths. Ex. 500. Alex proceeded to a jury trial. 7/22 RP 402.

4. The prosecution introduces testimony about Mexican drug cartels, drug trafficking, and the supposed characteristics of Hispanic drug dealers.

Defense counsel moved to exclude text messages between Javier and Alex about buying and selling drugs. 7/22 RP 290-91. The prosecution asserted the evidence was relevant to its

theory that Alex participated in the murders "in order to become involved in drug trafficking, in order to start selling drugs himself." 7/22 RP 292. Defense counsel countered there was "not even a scintilla of evidence" of "some initiation into a drug group or something like that." 7/22 RP 295. The trial court admitted the evidence under ER 404(b), reasoning it was relevant to the prosecution's theory of motive. 7/22 RP 298.

The prosecution thereafter introduced testimony from Pierce County Sherriff's Deputy Sergio Madrigal Mendoza, who works in undercover narcotics and vice investigations, with a focus on "Hispanic drug sources and drug informants." 8/30 RP 1355-57, 1371. Deputy Madrigal Mendoza was asked by the prosecution to interpret the text messages between Javier and Alex. 8/30 RP 1372. His testimony, which took the better part of an afternoon, included the following:

- Deputy Madrigal Mendoza testified he "was taught how cartels operate specifically from Mexico." 8/30 RP 1358.
- He testified multiple times that he specialized in "Hispanic drug dealers" (8/30 RP 1365, 1370), "Hispanic drug

sources" (8/30 RP 1369, 1370), and "Hispanic drug sources and drug informants" (8/30 RP 1371).

- He testified Hispanic drug dealers are "more cautious," require more trust before doing business, and often use WhatsApp because it is encrypted, suggesting Alex and Javier must have known each other and communicated over WhatsApp before the murders because of their ethnicity. 8/30 RP 1365-66, 1370.
- The prosecution asked Deputy Madrigal Mendoza, "you mentioned a couple of times that your focus, your expertise is related to Mexican drugs[?]" 8/30 RP 1371.
- Deputy Madrigal Mendoza testified, "a lot of the drugs and issues that we've been having in the county, particular our area, are coming from Mexico or being delivered across the border." 8/30 RP 1361.
- He continued, explaining the hierarchy of Mexican cartels, "So I would say in the hierarchy of things of narcotic investigations, you have your bosses, your cartel leaders, that are working in Mexico or running cartels that are involved in transporting large quantities of drugs across the border throughout the United States." 8/30 RP 1361.
- The prosecution asked Deputy Madrigal Mendoza if he knew "how drugs get into the State of Washington." 8/30 RP 1361. Deputy Madrigal Mendoza reiterated the "militaristic-type organization" of drug trafficking. 8/30 RP 1362. He explained drugs are "packaged and shipped," then "either brought across via trailer via freight where you have people that are bought off or it's going through tunnels," before going to "stash houses." 8/30 RP 1362. From there, drugs get transported to "different hubs of the state,"

including "your third hub, the one that I've seen the most is probably here in Pierce County corridor, Tacoma area." 8/30 RP 1362.

• He explained the hierarchy of drug selling, "You're not going to have our cartel boss from Mexico communicating with a person dealing in balls or teeners or grams or ounces in Washington state." 8/30 RP 1364.

The prosecution then introduced the text messages between Javier and Alex. 8/30 RP 1372-73. At one point, Alex asked whether Javier had WhatsApp, though no WhatsApp messages were introduced. 8/30 RP 1389. Deputy Madrigal Mendoza testified their texts indicated a level of trust suggesting it was "possible" Javier and Alex knew each other before the murders. 8/30 RP 1391-97. But Deputy Madrigal Mendoza did not testify the texts indicated the drugs Javier and Alex were selling arrived from Mexico, were smuggled across the border, or that either Javier or Alex was working with a Mexican cartel to distribute the drugs. See 8/30 RP 1373-1417.

The prosecution elicited cartel evidence through other witnesses, as well. For instance, the prosecution introduced

evidence of Alex's web search on May 16 for "Sinaloa Cartel Seattle" and "searches relating to drug busts for Mexican cartels, arrest tied to Mexican drugs, things of that nature." 8/5 RP 886-87. The prosecution also established both Wilberth and Javier were from the Sinaloa state of Mexico. 8/4 RP 789; 8/9 RP 1079. The prosecution tried twice, but failed, to establish Alex was also from Sinaloa. 8/4 RP 789; 9/1 RP 1526.

The prosecution also introduced the portion of Alex's interview where the detective asked him to speculate whether Javier belonged to the Sinaloa Cartel, "Did Javier ever . . . say he was part of the Sinaloa Cartel or anything like that?" Ex. 21, at 59. Alex responded, "I'm thinking makes sense that he's doin' something, you know," because Javier had cocaine and "mentioned something about working." Ex. 21, at 60. Alex emphasized, however, "I don't wanna tell you something I don't know," explaining he never heard Javier say anything about being a part of the cartel. Ex. 21, at 60.

The jury found Alex guilty of second degree murder on the charge related to Adrian and first degree murder on the charge related to Wilberth. CP 120, 123.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Review is warranted to assess whether an ethnicity-based appeal to juror bias necessitates reversal where the problematic testimony has some minimal relevance, at best, but goes too far.

In State v. Zamora, 199 Wn.2d 698, 713-14, 512 P.3d 512 (2022), this Court held the prosecutor's irrelevant discussion of border security, illegal immigration, and drug smuggling during jury selection "implicated the defendant's ethnicity, and viewed in context, the conduct apparently appealed to the jurors' potential racial or ethnic bias, stereotypes, or prejudice." The court of appeals in Alex's case concluded similar testimony had some minimal relevance and, accordingly, upheld Alex's convictions. This presents the novel question of when testimony that invokes the defendant's ethnicity and appeals to jurors' ethnic biases goes too far, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

The court of appeals recognized "there is no question" Deputy Madrigal Mendoza's testimony "referenced race and ethnicity." Opinion, 32. The court further acknowledged "the references to race and ethnicity, when combined, played a prominent role in the State's theories and, therefore, cannot be characterized as minimal." Opinion, 33. The court agreed "the deputy's use of the term 'Hispanic drug dealers' might be viewed as stereotyping." Opinion, 34 (quoting 8/30 RP 1365, 1370). The court likewise agreed the prosecution "made an explicit reference to 'Mexican drugs." Opinion, 32 (quoting 8/30 RP 1371).

Yet the court of appeals dismissed Alex's ethnicity-based misconduct claim for two reasons. First, the court concluded the testimony about Mexican drug cartels, drug smuggling across the United States-Mexico border, and Mexican drugs arriving in the Tacoma area was relevant to Deputy Madrigal Mendoza's training and experience. Opinion, 33. Second, the court reasoned Alex's internet searches about the Sinaloa Cartel made "at least some testimony about drug cartels relevant." Opinion, 34 (emphasis

added); see also Opinion, 36 ("These actions by Lopez Leon himself at least somewhat placed these topics at issue in the trial." (Emphasis added.)). The emphasized testimony suggests the court of appeals agreed some of the challenged testimony was problematic. The court nevertheless concluded, essentially, that the cartel testimony was not bad enough.

The court of appeals' conclusion warrants another look by this Court. The prosecution has never argued there was any evidence that the drugs Javier and Alex were selling arrived from Mexico or were sourced by a Mexican drug cartel. Br. of Resp't, 79 (conceding as much). The court of appeals appeared to agree. Certainly, Deputy Madrigal Mendoza's testimony about the hierarchy of drug dealing and the need for a trusting relationship between drug sources and runners was relevant. See Opinion, 33 (recognizing the testimony "laid the foundation for his expertise to address the State's theory that Lopez Leon was a lower-level dealer who obtained drugs from Javier"). But that is where the testimony should have ended.

It remains unclear why it was appropriate for Deputy Madrigal Mendoza to testify, "a lot of the drugs and issues that we've been having in the county, particular our area, are coming from Mexico or being delivered across the border." 8/30 RP 1361. Or to testify Mexican drug cartels "are involved in transporting large quantities of drugs across the border throughout the United States." 8/30 RP 1361. Likewise, drugs are "packaged and shipped," then "either brought across via trailer via freight where you have people that are bought off or it's going through tunnels," before going to "stash houses." 8/30 RP 1362. From there, drugs get transported to "different hubs of the state," including "your third hub, the one that I've seen the most is probably here in Pierce County corridor, Tacoma area." 8/30 RP 1362. Again, without evidence Javier and Alex were working with the cartel to sell narcotics trafficked from Mexico, the only apparent relevance of the deputy's testimony was to suggest they were doing so by virtue of their ethnicity.

The court of appeals also failed to grapple with the especially problematic testimony from Deputy Madrigal Mendoza that drugs arriving from Mexico are a particular issue in "our area" and "in Pierce County corridor, Tacoma area." This is precisely like the Ninth Circuit's decision in United States v. Cabrera, 222 F.3d 590, 596 (9th Cir. 2000), where the court recognized an officer's testimony "about how Cubans package their drugs may have been relevant to other aspects of the case; however, it was prejudicial because it added to the perception that Cuban drug dealing was a city-wide problem in Las Vegas." The court of appeals' distinction of Cabrera on the basis that "Deputy Madrigal Mendoza's testimony was relevant to explaining his background and the State's theories about motive and the relationship between Lopez Leon and Javier" rings hollow—especially when the court glossed over the testimony that makes this case most like Cabrera. Opinion, 37 n.17.

The court of appeals was also not too concerned with the potential "stereotyping" from the deputy's repeated discussion of

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