## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/5/2023 12:56 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102493-2

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALEX LOPEZ LEON,

Petitioner.

Pierce County Superior Court No. 18-1-03457-6 Court of Appeals No. 56467-0-II

# **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Kristie Barham Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA # 32764 / OID # 91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-6746

# **

II.	RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES			
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
IV.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED			
	А.	The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the State Did Not "Flagrantly or Apparently Intentionally" Appeal to Racial Bias by Introducing "Highly Relevant" Evidence at Trial		
	B.	The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Counsel Made a Strategic Decision Not to Object to the Limited, Relevant Evidence Involving Cartels		
	C.	The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the Prosecutor Did Not Commit Misconduct and That Counsel Made a Strategic Decision Not to Object to the Isolated Closing Argument		
	D.	The Court of Appeals Followed Well- Established Law in Concluding That Sufficient Evidence Supported the Convictions		
V.	CONCLUSION			

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# State Cases

<i>In re Pers. Restraint of Davis</i> , 152 Wn.2d 647, 101 P.3d 1 (2004)
<i>In re Pers. Restraint of Sandoval</i> , 189 Wn.2d 811, 408 P.3d 675 (2018) 10, 20
State v. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d 777, 522 P.3d 982 (2023) 11, 18
State v. Clark, 187 Wn.2d 641, 389 P.3d 462 (2017) 30
State v. DeLeon, 185 Wn.2d 478, 374 P.3d 95 (2016)27
State v. Embry, 171 Wn. App. 714, 287 P.3d 648 (2012) 27
State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)29
State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) 22, 30
<i>State v. Jameison</i> , 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 421 P.3d 463 (2018)
<i>State v. Lopez Leon</i> , No. 56467-0-II (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 1, 2023) (unpublished)
<i>State v. McFarland</i> , 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)
<i>State v. O'Neal</i> , No. 50796-0-II, 2021 WL 5085417 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 2, 2021) (unpublished)

State v. Ra, 144 Wn. App. 688, 175 P.3d 609 (2008)27
State v. Rich, 184 Wn.2d 897, 365 P.3d 746 (2016)
State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) 32
State v. Scott, 151 Wn. App. 520, 213 P.3d 71 (2009) 27
<i>State v. Thorgerson</i> , 172 Wn.2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)
State v. Vazquez, 198 Wn.2d 239, 494 P.3d 424 (2021) 22
<i>State v. Zamora</i> , 199 Wn.2d 698, 512 P.3d 512 (2022)11, 12, 16, 17, 20

# Federal and Other Jurisdictions

United States v. Cabrera, 222 F.3d 590 (9th Cir. 2000) 18, 19				
Rules and Regulations				
RAP 13.4(b)(3)3, 22, 28, 30, 33				
RAP 13.4(b)(4)				

## I. INTRODUCTION

Alex Lopez Leon murdered two young men with Javier Valenzuela Felix to gain his trust so he could make money dealing large quantities of drugs with Javier. As Lopez Leon told Javier shortly after the murders, "I don't look I don't feel and I don't listen, I just want to make money." They exchanged more than 280 texts in the ten days following the murders, which revealed that Javier was Lopez Leon's "source" for selling drugs.

Deputy Sergio Madrigal Mendoza testified about his training and experience working undercover in narcotics investigations to lay the foundation for his expert testimony interpreting their text messages, which were in Spanish and used drug terminology. His testimony was necessary to explain the nature of their drug dealing relationship and high level of trust that could only have been built up over a long period time. This was directly relevant to a central issue at trial—whether they were strangers as Lopez Leon claimed or had a preexisting relationship and acted in concert in committing the murders. Lopez Leon believed Javier was in the cartel. His text messages immediately following the murders revealed that he wanted to "work" with Javier and "make money" and that he searched the internet for information about the "sinaloa cartel" and "Mexican drug cartel." Thus, the limited evidence regarding cartels was relevant to explain his motive for the murders. Notably, it was Lopez Leon—not the State—who referenced the cartel in his opening and suggested it played a role in the murders. Counsel was not ineffective for making a strategic decision not to object to this relevant evidence, which also supported his theory of the case that Lopez Leon feared Javier.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged the importance of carefully considering Lopez Leon's race-based prosecutorial misconduct claim to ensure he received a fair trial and was mindful of this Court's instruction for courts to "endeavor to eradicate racial bias from the legal system." With these principles in mind, the Court of Appeals carefully analyzed the "highly relevant" evidence at trial and properly concluded that, based on the facts of this case, an objective observer aware of the history of race and ethnic discrimination could not view the prosecutor's conduct as "flagrantly or apparently intentionally" appealing to racial bias. Lopez Leon's arguments ignore the context of the evidence and its relevance to the specific issues in his case.

The Court of Appeals applied well-established law and thoroughly analyzed the apparent purpose of the evidence, which was "geared toward areas that were highly relevant" at trial. The decision raises neither a significant question of constitutional law nor an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

#### II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Should this Court deny review where the Court of Appeals acknowledged the importance of race-based prosecutorial misconduct claims, carefully analyzed the evidence, and properly concluded that, under the facts of this case, an objective observer could not view the prosecutor's conduct as "flagrantly or apparently intentionally" appealing to racial bias?
- B. Should this Court deny review where the Court of Appeals properly concluded that counsel was not ineffective for making a strategic decision not to object to the limited

evidence involving cartels where it was relevant to motive and supported his theory that Lopez Leon feared Javier?

- C. Should this Court deny review where Lopez Leon failed to show prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument and where counsel made a strategic decision not to object to the isolated argument?
- D. Should this Court deny review where the Court of Appeals followed well-established law in concluding that sufficient evidence supported the murder convictions?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed

Lopez Leon's convictions for the first-degree murder of Wilberth Lopez Alcala and second-degree murder of Adrian Valencia Cuevas. *State v. Lopez Leon*, No. 56467-0-II (Wash. Ct. App.

Aug. 1, 2023) (unpublished).

Hours before the murders, Lopez Leon, Javier, Wilberth, and Adrian attended a party at the apartment complex where they lived. RP 737-38, 747, 775, 983-84, 999-1000. Lopez Leon lured Adrian—a stranger—to the party by repeatedly texting Adrian's brother. *See* Ex. 242; Ex. 21 at 32, 64.

After drinking and using cocaine at the party, all four men left in Wilberth's car to fire a gun. Ex. 21 at 2, 16, 22, 40; RP 1705-06. They returned to the car after Javier fired shots in the air—Wilberth was driving, Adrian was in the front passenger seat, Javier was in the back seat behind Wilberth, and Lopez Leon was to the right of Javier. Ex. 21 at 44, 68. Shortly thereafter, Javier shot Adrian in the back of his head. Ex. 21 at 24, 44-46, 77; RP 620-25, 644. Lopez Leon secretly recorded this "kill shot" and claimed he knew, without any explanation, that "something bad" was going to happen. *See* Ex. 21 at 77-78; RP 1677-79.

Lopez Leon told detectives that Javier, who was sitting directly behind Wilberth, subsequently reached around the head rest with his left arm and shot Wilberth in the left side of his head, which he reenacted and diagrammed. *See* Ex. 21 at 47, 76; Ex. 18; RP 791-92. This was inconsistent with the medical examiner's conclusion that the shot entered the right side of Wilberth's head and exited over his left eye. RP 599-600, 614, 659-60, 766-67, 1721-22. It was also inconsistent with ballistics evidence indicating the use of two guns based on the different calibers of the bullet and cartridges. *See* RP 1136-38, 1174-1219, 1238-41, 1251, 1265-66, 1277-82. Lopez Leon could not explain why Javier—who he claimed was a stranger—let him live after watching Javier murder two people. Ex. 21 at 16, 48, 82-83.

After the murders, Lopez Leon exited the car and put his hand behind his back consistent with putting a gun in his waistband. RP 1689-90; *see* Ex. 14A (3:18-3:44). Lopez Leon claimed he tried to get away from Javier by "walking and running." Ex. 21 at 26-27, 49. But surveillance video shows he deliberately caught up with Javier after exiting the car, and they are captured on several surveillance videos fleeing the scene *together*. Exs. 10-A, 12-A, 13-B; RP 681, 728, 1318-31.

They switched clothes and were captured on surveillance video boarding a bus together three hours after the murder. Ex. 149; RP 683, 1329-35. Lopez Leon claimed he boarded the bus "cause there's people." Ex. 21 at 50. But the bus was empty. Ex. 149. Lopez Leon waved Javier onto the empty bus, and they sat together and talked before they exited the bus with Lopez Leon leading the way. *Id.*; RP 684-89, 1312.

After the murders, Lopez Leon lied to Adrian's mother and claimed not to know where Adrian was. RP 992-94. He disappeared from the apartment complex and would not answer her calls. RP 997-98, 1031. Instead of contacting Adrian's mother or law enforcement, Lopez Leon immediately established contact with Javier. *See* Ex. 241. They exchanged more than 280 text messages in the ten days following the murders. *Id.* Lopez Leon initiated nearly all of the contact. *See id.* 

The texts reveal that Lopez Leon wanted to "move forward" selling drugs and that Javier was his "source" and fronting him large quantities of drugs. Ex. 241. Lopez Leon believed Javier was in a cartel. *See* CP 323-24 ("And when you say work in Spanish, and, I mean, and you're drinking and you have *all this coke* in your hand, you figure it out pretty much, you know.") (emphasis added). Immediately following the murders, Lopez Leon conducted internet searches for information about the "sinaloa cartel seattle," "arrests tied to Mexican drug cartel," and the capture of a "Sinaloa cartel leader." Ex. 133; RP 886-87.

Lopez Leon told Javier he "took off" after the murders to "stay ahead of the curve" and repeatedly assured Javier in texts messages that law enforcement did not know who committed the murders:

- I've been keeping an eye on the news you know they don't know anything not even who it was or anything so everything's good
- If anything comes up I'll pass on the info so you can beat feet
- I think everything's okay dude since they didn't know us and besides on the news there is nothing they don't know who or how...
- ...there is nothing about them knowing who it was or anything...If I hear anything I'll tell you right away don't worry
- Well dude the truth is something happens here every day they are super busy but anyway got to stay sharp and not let that stop us got to move forward and work
- Honest as for me like the prison says I don't look I don't feel and I don't listen, I just want to make money if possible

Ex. 241.

Deputy Mendoza testified about his background working in undercover operations with "Hispanic drug dealers" to lay the foundation for his expertise interpreting the text messages between Lopez Leon and Javier, which were in Spanish and involved drug terminology unfamiliar to the average juror. *See* RP 1365, 1369-82. He testified that the texts revealed a high level of trust developed over a long period of time and were not discussions between strangers who recently met for the first time. RP 1395-98, 1404-06.

Deputy Mendoza described the complex process of drug dealing and cartel operations to lay the foundation for his expertise that Javier was Lopez Leon's "source" for large quantities of drugs. *See* RP 1355-97. Although he briefly described drugs coming from Mexico, this was in the context of his expertise and was not the only source of drugs in the state. *See* RP 1361-65, 1391. Approximately three weeks after the murders, detectives located Lopez Leon in another city and arrested him. RP 700-12; 9/7/21 RP 19, 35-36. He was in possession of two cell phones. RP 712-13. Text messages revealed he was communicating with Javier on at least two phones. Ex. 241 ("I'll send you the address on the other phone").

Lopez Leon claimed he only stayed in contact with Javier to help law enforcement catch him. Ex. 21 at 19, 61-62, 81, 85. But their texts revealed they met numerous times after the murders to exchange money and drugs. Ex. 241. Despite this, Lopez Leon never contacted law enforcement, even though he acknowledged seeing himself on the news. 9/7/21 RP 37-39.

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the State Did Not "Flagrantly or Apparently Intentionally" Appeal to Racial Bias by Introducing "Highly Relevant" Evidence at Trial.

As this Court has recognized, not all references to race or ethnicity during trial are improper. *In re Pers. Restraint of Sandoval*, 189 Wn.2d 811, 834, 408 P.3d 675 (2018). In some cases, race or ethnicity may be relevant or even necessary to discuss within the context of the trial. *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 715, 512 P.3d 512 (2022). Thus, a careful and thorough examination of the trial record is necessary when reviewing race-based prosecutorial misconduct claims.

The Court of Appeals properly recognized the importance of Lopez Leon's race-based prosecutorial misconduct claim and explicitly acknowledged this Court's instruction that courts "must endeavor to eradicate racial bias from the legal system." *Lopez Leon*, slip op. at 29, 37. With these principles in mind, the Court of Appeals carefully analyzed the "highly relevant" evidence at trial under the *Bagby*<sup>1</sup> factors and correctly concluded that, under the facts of *this case*, an objective observer—who is aware of the history of race and ethnic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d 777, 522 P.3d 982 (2023). Courts consider (1) the content and subject of the statements, (2) the frequency of the remarks, (3) the apparent purpose of the statements, and (4) whether the comments were based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record. *Id.* at 793.

discrimination and the implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases and purposeful discrimination—could not view the prosecutor's conduct as "flagrantly or apparently intentionally" appealing to racial prejudice, bias, or stereotypes.

"An allegation of race-based prosecutorial misconduct requires a close and thorough examination of the record." *Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d at 704. The Court of Appeals did just that by carefully examining the trial record and considering the purpose of the references to race and ethnicity, which were based on the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom. Lopez Leon's arguments ignore the context of the evidence and its relevance to the specific issues in his case. It was this context that was crucial to the court's analysis.

Deputy Mendoza testified about his background working in undercover operations with "Hispanic drug dealers" because this was his specific area of expertise. RP 1365-71. He frequently used his fluency in the Spanish language to work with Hispanic drug sources and informants. RP 1371-72. As the Court of Appeals recognized, "The deputy's native language is Spanish, his parents immigrated from Mexico, and he frequently uses Spanish in his work." *Lopez Leon*, slip op. at 9.

Deputy Mendoza's testimony laid the foundation for his expertise interpreting the texts between Lopez Leon and Javier, which were in Spanish and involved drug terminology. RP 1371-81; Ex. 241; *see* RP 1369 (explaining he must use the same terminology communicating with "Hispanic drug sources" for safety reasons during undercover operations); *see also* RP 1382 (testifying its common for Hispanic drug dealers to refer to heroin as "Morena" because it means "brown or dark" in Spanish, which describes heroin).

Deputy Mendoza described the complex process of drug dealing and cartel operations to lay the foundation for his expertise. This testimony was "relevant to explain the process that leads to the involvement of drug sources and their runners" and his expert opinion that Javier was Lopez Leon's "source" and fronting him large quantities of drugs. *Lopez Leon*, slip op. at 33-34. Thus, under the facts of *this case*, Deputy Mendoza's testimony was highly probative of central issues at trial and must be considered within that context.

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